
TO: The Local 3 77 Executive Board 
FROM: Members of the Independent Review Board 
RE: Proposed Charges Against Former Local 377 Recording 

Secretary and Business Agent Jerry Morrison 
DATE: April 20, 1999 

I. RECOMMENDATION 
The Independent Review Board refers the below report to 

the Local 377 Executive Board for the purpose of initiating charges 
against Jerry Morrison ("Morrison"), the former Local 377 Recording 
Secretary and business agent and currently a suspended member of 
IBT Local 377, for entering into a sham collective bargaining 
agreement with Garono Landscaping Inc. ("Garono Landscaping").1 

Ruth A. Garono, the wife of La Cosa Nostra ("LCN") associate 
Lawrence Garono ("Garono"), owned Garono Landscaping. 

In February 1996, Morrison, the business agent for Garono 
Landscaping, signed a collective bargaining agreement with the 
company without speaking to the members employed at Garono 
Landscaping and without holding a contract ratification vote in 
apparent violation of Section 27 of the Local 377 Bylaws and 
Article XII, Section 1(b) of the IBT Constitution. In addition, 
although Morrison testified that, pursuant to the agreement, all 
employees of Garono Landscaping should be members of Local 377, 

1 As discussed below, in November 1998 Joint Council 1 
suspended Morrison from IBT membership for fifteen months after a 
hearing on charges that he misused a Local 377 membership list 
during the 1998 election for Local officers. Pursuant to Article 
XIX, Section 1(g) of the IBT Constitution, charges can be filed 
against a suspended member. 



Morrison took no steps to enforce the contract and not all 
employees were members. For example, as of April 1998, despite 
testimony from a Garono Landscaping foreman that there were eleven 
employees at that time, only three employees, the foreman, LCN 
associate Garono and another foreman, were members of Local 377.2 

As discussed below, it appears that Morrison signed the 
collective bargaining agreement with Garono Landscaping not for any 
legitimate collective bargaining purpose but in order to assist the 
company to gain access to union worksites. That benefiting the 
employer was the true purpose of the agreement was shown in October 
1998 when three individuals,, who had been employees of Garono 
Landscaping since at least 1993 and were not active Local 377 
members, paid dues to Local 377 after a dispute arose on a worksite 
with a Laborers Local.3 Once the work at that site was completed, 
the three employees were issued withdrawal cards from Local 377. 

The contract did not provide any health and welfare 
benefits or pension benefits. As discussed below, based upon a 
discussion with company owner Ruth Garono, Morrison testified that 
it was his understanding that Garono Landscaping provided its 

2 As discussed below, it does not appear that two of the 
listed IBT members, including LCN associate Garono, were actually 
employed at the company at the time. 

3 As discussed below, each of these three individuals had 
at one time paid dues to Local 377. One individual, Gabriel 
Aurilio, had been a Local 377 member prior to going to work for 
Garono Landscaping in 1992 or 1993. However, as a Garono 
Landscaping employee, Aurilio did not pay dues until October 
1998. The two other individuals, Benedict Bernard and Frank 
Perline, had paid dues to Local 377 before while employed at 
Garono Landscaping apparently to gain access to a union worksite. 
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employees with health insurance. However, as the employees at 
Garono Landscaping testified, this was not true. Morrison relied 
upon Ruth Garono's representations and did not consult the 
employees regarding this significant issue. 

Moreover, it does not appear that Morrison made any 
effort to enforce the terms of the agreement which appear to have 
been ignored. For example, not all the employees of Garono 
Landscaping were paid in accordance with the hourly wages set forth 
in the collective bargaining agreement. In addition, the terms of 
the collective bargaining agreement regarding vacation, paid 
holidays and other terms and conditions of employment did not 
appear to be followed. Further demonstrating the sham nature of 
the contract, Morrison allowed Anthony Antoun ("Antoun"), whom 
Morrison knew to be a personal friend of LCN associate Garono, to 
arrange for the renewal of the contract with Garono Landscaping.4 

By his conduct, it appears that Morrison engaged in 
deceptive and dishonest conduct, breached his fiduciary duties and 
violated Article II, Section 2(a), Article XII, Section 1(b) and 
Article XIX, Section 7(b)(1) and (2) of the IBT Constitution and 
Section 27 of the Local 377 Bylaws.5 

4 Charges are currently pending before the IRB alleging 
that Antoun, who was the Local's chief steward for the 
construction industry, knowingly associated with LCN associate 
Garono. 

5 Article XII, Section 1(b) of the IBT Constitution 
provides in pertinent part: 

Agreements shall either be accepted by a 
majority vote of those members involved in 
negotiations and voting, or a majority of 
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II. INTRODUCTION 
Morrison, date of birth November 19, 1939 and a resident 

of Hubbard, Ohio, is a suspended member of Local 377, located in 
Youngstown, Ohio. (Ex. 2; Ex. 35) Local records reflected that 
Morrison became a member of Local 377 in 1967. (Ex. 2) Local 377 
represents employees in the trucking, carting, construction, 
warehousing, bakery, beverage and hospital industries.6 

such members shall direct further 
negotiations before a final vote on the 
employer's offer is taken, as directed by the 
Local Union Executive Board. 
Section 27(a) and (c) of the Local 377 Bylaws provides 

in relevant part: 
(a) Whenever a collective bargaining 
agreement is about to be negotiated, modified 
or extended at the request of this Local 
Union, the principal executive officer shall 
call a meeting at which the membership shall 
determine and authorize the bargaining 
demands to be made. . . . 

* * * 

(c) Ratification of agreements or amendments 
shall be subject to vote in the same manner 
as provided for in connection with bargaining 
demands as set forth in Section 27(A) . . . 

(Ex. 11) 
6 In 1991, the Investigations Officer filed charges against 

four Local 377 officers. On March 12, 1991 the Investigations 
Officer charged Anthony Sammarone ("Sammarone"), also known as 
"Dooney", then the Local 377 Secretary Treasurer, and Rocky 
Mitolo ("Mitolo"), then a business agent, with violating the IBT 
Constitution when they, from September 1968 to May 1970, demanded 
money and other things of value from operators of motor vehicles, 
and the employers of these operators, as a fee in connection with 
the unloading of the cargo of these vehicles in violation of 
Title 29, United States Code, Section 186 (b)(2). (Exs. 3 and 4) 
Sammarone and Mitolo each entered a plea of guilty to violating 
Title 18 Section 371 on October 13, 1972 in the United States 
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Prior to being elected to Local 377 office in 1996, 
Morrison was employed in the construction industry. (Ex. 1 at 4) 
Morrison was elected Recording Secretary and business agent for the 
term beginning January 1996. (Ex. 29) Morrison was the Local's 
business agent for the construction industry. (Ex. 1 at 7) 

It appears that while a Local 377 officer and business 
agent, Morrison entered into a sham collective bargaining agreement 
with Garono Landscaping located in Hubbard, Ohio. (Ex. 12) Garono 
is an associate of LCN member Lenine Strollo ("Strollo"). (Ex. 13) 
Garono's wife, Ruth Garono, owned Garono Landscaping. (Ex. 14 at 4) 
During a recent RICO trial in Cleveland, Garono testified for the 
Government. As detailed below, Garono testified that he ran 
illegal gambling for LCN member Strollo. (Ex. 14 at 6-8) In 1998, 
Garono pled guilty to 18 U.S.C. §1962(c) in connection with 

District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern 
District. To resolve the Investigations Officer's charges, 
Sammarone and Mitolo each signed an Affidavit and Agreement 
pursuant to which they were each suspended for two months. (Exs. 
5 and 6) 

On December 5, 1990, the Investigations Officer filed 
charges against then Local 377 Vice President Michael L. Boano 
("Boano"). The charges alleged that Boano drew a weapon at a 
general membership meeting on September 19, 1990 and threatened a 
fellow Teamster. On January 29, 1991 the Investigations Officer 
filed a second charge against Boano which was revised on March 7, 
1991. This charge alleged that on or about October 28, 1969 
Boano participated in a gun battle which resulted in the death of 
one Teamster and the wounding of others. (Ex. 7) The Local 377 
President at the time, Robert Eliser ("Eliser"), was also charged 
with participating in this gun battle. (Ex. 8) In connection 
with this, on January 4, 1971 Boano and Eliser each pled no 
contest to second degree riot charges. On May 6, 1991 Boano 
signed an agreement resigning permanently from the IBT. (Ex. 9) 
Eliser signed an agreement pursuant to which he was suspended for 
two months. (Ex. 10) 
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supervising gambling operations for LCN member Strollo. He is 
currently awaiting sentencing. 

During his trial testimony, Garono described Garono 
Landscaping as a family business his wife and daughters owned. 
Garono testified that he was employed at Garono Landscaping as a 
supervisor. (Ex 14 at 4) Garono became a Local 377 member in June 
1990. (Ex. 15) 

On August 4, 1998 the IRB recommended that Garono be 
charged with knowingly associating with LCN member Strollo. (Ex. 
16) On February 2, 1999, the IRB issued a decision finding that 
Garono knowingly associated with LCN member Strollo and permanently 
barred Garono from the IBT. (Ex. 13) On February 23, 1999, 
District Judge David N. Edelstein affirmed the IRB's decision. (Ex. 
17)7 

Morrison was the business agent for Garono Landscaping 
and signed the collective bargaining agreement on behalf of the 
Local. (Ex. 1 at 41, 46-48; Ex. 12) Morrison did not speak to the 
members employed at Garono Landscaping about the collective 
bargaining agreement and, in apparent violation of Article XII, 
Section 1(b) of the IBT Constitution and Section 27 of the Local 
377 Bylaws, did not conduct a contract ratification vote. 

Although Morrison testified that, pursuant to the 
collective bargaining agreement, all employees of Garono 

7 IRB recommended charges are currently pending against two 
additional Local 377 members, Antoun and Leo Connelly. Connelly 
has been charged with knowingly associating with LCN member 
Strollo and Antoun has been charged with knowingly associating 
with LCN associate Garono. 
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Landscaping should be members of the Local, in April 1998 only 
three members were listed as being employed at Garono Landscaping. 
(Ex. 1 at 45; Ex. 18) One member was LCN associate Garono, whose 
wife owned the company, and who had been incarcerated since 
December 1997. (Ex. 18; Ex. 19 at 6) The other member, Jeffrey 
Morgan ("Morgan"), described himself as a foreman at Garono 
Landscaping. (Ex. 19 at 4) The third individual listed as a member 
employed at Garono Landscaping, Tom Fitzsimmons, had not worked for 
Garono Landscaping since approximately 1997. (Ex. 19 at 5)8 

As discussed below, Morgan testified that in addition to 
himself, there were ten other full-time employees of Garono 
Landscaping that were not members of the Local. (Ex. 19 at 10-11, 
24-25) At least three of these employees had been employed at 
Garono Landscaping since at least 1993. (Ex. 20 at 5; Ex. 21 at 4; 
Ex. 22 at 4) 

As discussed below, it appears that Morrison entered into 
the agreement with Garono Landscaping not to benefit the employees, 
but to assist the company to gain access to union worksites. 
Morrison testified, "[s]he [Ruth Garono] gets a teamster — she 
gets a union contract every time it's up so she can work on union 
jobs. She just — she works with other union crafts. . . ." (Ex. 
23 at 6) In October 1998, three employees of Garono Landscaping 
paid dues to the Local in order to get access to a union worksite. 

8 When Fitzsimmons worked for Garono Landscaping, he was a 
foreman. (Ex. 19 at 5) 
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After the work was completed, they were issued withdrawal cards 
from the Local. (Exs. 24-26) 

As shown below, the agreement did not provide basic 
benefits to the employees and Morrison allowed the company to 
ignore the terms of the agreement. This was further evidence that 
Morrison knew the contract was a sham. 
III. INVESTIGATIVE FINDINGS 
A. Morrison's Local 377 Membership 

Morrison became a member of Local 377 in 1967. (Ex. 2) 
Morrison worked in the construction industry until January 1996 
when he took office as Recording Secretary and business agent. (Ex. 
1 at 3-4) Morrison ran for Secretary-Treasurer in the 1998 
election for Local officers. Morrison won the election. 

However, on August 21, 1998 members of the Local 377 
Executive Board filed charges against Morrison and two other 
members of Morrison's slate in the Local 377 election. The charges 
alleged that Morrison and the others improperly used a computer 
disc containing the Local's membership list to benefit their slate. 
On November 16, 1998 a Joint Council 1 hearing panel ruled that 
Morrison and the two others were suspended from membership and 
office for fifteen months. (Ex. 27) On December 8, 1998 Joint 
Council 1 voted to rerun the Local 377 election. Morrison appealed 
the decision to the General Executive Board which upheld Joint 
Council l's decision. (Ex. 28) 

During his March 1999 sworn examination, Morrison 
testified that he was employed as a bus driver at Copperweld. (Ex. 
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2 3 at 4) Morrison testified that Antoun arranged for him to work 
at Copperweld. (Ex. 2 3 at 4-5) 
B. Garono Landscaping 

Garono Landscaping, located at 340 School Street in 
Hubbard, Ohio, was incorporated in the State of Ohio on February 
13, 1989. (Ex. 30) Ruth A. Garono is listed in Ohio corporate 
records as the Incorporator/Partner/Member. (Ex. 3 0) During his 
March 2, 1999 trial testimony, Garono testified with respect to 
Garono Landscaping, 

[i]t's a landscape company, and my wife and 
daughters own the company. I work for them as 
a supervisor. We do new construction of 
landscaping, tear out old and design new. 
Been in business for over 50 years. It's a 
family operation business. 

(Ex. 14 at 4) 
Garono submitted an application for membership to Local 

377 on June 19, 1990 listing Garono Landscaping as his employer. 
(Ex. 31)9 Garono paid monthly dues until he was issued a 
withdrawal card on August 21, 1998, after the IRB recommended 
charges against him. (Ex. 15) It appears that despite Garono's 
incarceration since December 1997, dues were paid for him until 
August 1998 when the IRB recommended charges against him. 

9 Morgan, who is a Local 377 member and a Garono 
Landscaping employee, described Garono's work at Garono 
Landscaping prior to Garono going to prison, as follows: 

[h]e would pick up material and he would go 
collect money from the job sites. I didn't 
see him much during the day. I would see him 
in the morning when I went to work. 

(Ex. 19 at 12) 
9 



Local 377 member Morgan, who was employed at Garono 
Landscaping for approximately twenty-seven years, handled all the 
bidding work for Garono Landscaping. (Ex. 19 at 6) During his June 
1998 sworn examination, Morgan testified that Garono Landscaping 
has the following equipment: "[f]ive two-ton dumps. We have a 
bunch of dump trucks, a bunch of vans, tractors, backhoe seeding 
equipment." (Ex. 19 at 10) Morgan listed ten other individuals who 
were working for Garono Landscaping at the time of his June 25, 
1998 sworn examination. (Ex. 19 at 10-11, 24-25)10 

C. Garono's Organized Crime Ties 
Garono pled guilty in 1990 to federal gambling charges 

for participating in LCN member Strollo's illegal gambling 
operation. Garono was sentenced to one year and one day. LCN 
member Strollo pled guilty to federal gambling charges. He was 
released in July 1991. (Ex. 13 at 3-6) 

According to Garono, after his release from a halfway 
house, Strollo told Garono that Strollo had been appointed the 
boss. (Ex. 14 at 9) Strollo then appointed Garono to run his 
illegal gambling businesses. (Ex. 14 at 8) Garono testified that 
he was personally involved in Strollo's sports bookmaking business 
and assisted Strollo in the shakedown of other Youngstown area 
bookmakers. (Ex. 14 at 12-13) He supervised illegal gaming 
activities for Strollo. (Ex. 14 at 16-25) 

10 Morgan identified the following individuals as employees 
of Garono Landscaping: Benedict Bernard, Gabriel Aurilio, Juan 
Moralez, Rickie Moralez, Jim Kent, Frank Perline, Jose 
Carrasquillo, Angel Muldinado, Luis Muldinado and Evirsto Silva. 
(Ex. 19 at 10-11, 24-25) 
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In 1998, Garono pled guilty to supervising LCN member 
Strollo's illegal gambling operations. He is awaiting sentencing. 
On February 2, 1999, the IRB issued a decision finding that Garono 
knowingly associated with LCN member Strollo and permanently barred 
Garono from the IBT. (Ex. 13) District Judge David N. Edelstein 
affirmed the IRB's decision. (Ex. 17) 
D. Morrison Entered into a Sham Contract with Garono Landscaping 

Morrison was the business agent for Garono Landscaping. 
On February 26, 1996 Morrison, acting as a Business Agent on behalf 
of Local 377, signed a collective bargaining agreement with Garono 
Landscaping. (Ex. 1 at 44, 46-47; Ex. 12) Ruth A. Garono signed as 
President of the company. (Ex. 12) 

During his June 1998 sworn examination, Morrison 
testified that he knew that Garono "has a landscaping company. . .. 
He has been in our local — his landscaping company has been in 
it." (Ex. 1 at 39, 40) Morrison testified that while he "knew of" 
Garono from his home town of Hubbard, he claimed he did not know 
that Garono was a Local 377 member. (Ex. 1 at 39, 41) Morrison 
also testified that he did not know if Garono worked for Garono 
Landscaping. (Ex. 1 at 53)11 

11 During his sworn examination, Morrison testified as 
follows: 
Q: Did you find out that the Garono Landscaping 

was owned by the wife of Lawrence Garono who 
was reported to have ties to organized crime? 

A: I knew that. 
Q: Did you talk to anyone at the local about 

that, that you were concerned about that? 
11 



Morrison testified that under the collective bargaining 
agreement all the employees of Garono Landscaping were Local 3 77 
members. (Ex. 1 at 45)12 When asked during his June 1998 sworn 
examination how many employees Garono Landscaping had, Morrison 
responded, 

I don't really know because there is turnover. 
It's seasonal and they turn them over real 
fast. They sent into our local certain names. 
I can give you the read out on them. Their 
names are always changing. It's usually kids 
just out of school in the summertime that want 
to work. 

(Ex. 1 at 42)13 In contrast to Morrison's testimony, Garono 
Landscaping had at least four employees, Morgan, Benedict Bernard 
("Bernard"), Gabe Aurilio ("Aurilio") and Frank Perline 
("Perline") , who were employed at the company for at least five 
years. (Ex. 19 at 3; Ex. 2 0 at 5; Ex. 21 at 4; Ex. 22 at 4)14 

However, only one of these four employees, foreman Morgan who has 
been employed at Garono Landscaping for approximately twenty-seven 

A: No, because I am not affiliated with those 
people at all. Never did. 

(Ex. 1 at 54) 
12 Indeed, the collective bargaining agreement Morrison 

signed provided that all construction employees must become 
members of the union on the thirtieth day after the date of hire. 
(Ex. 12) 

13 Morrison did not know the name of any of the employees at 
Garono Landscaping. (Ex. 1 at 41-42) 

14 The Garono Landscaping employees testified that their 
work season is between approximately April and November of each 
year. (Ex. 19 at 27; Ex. 20 at 6; Ex. 21 at 11) 

12 



years, was a Local 377 member. (Ex. 19 at 3)15 

It does not appear that Morrison entered into the 
collective bargaining agreement to benefit the employees at Garono 
Landscaping. Rather, it appears that Morrison entered into the 
agreement, without consulting any member or having a mandatory 
contract ratification vote, in order to assist Garono Landscaping 
to gain access to union worksites.16 Morrison testified as follows 
regarding why the Local had a contract with Garono Landscaping: 

Q: Do you know why the members at Garono 
Landscaping are members of the union since 
there was no wage increase, they don't get any 
pension benefits and there is no health 
benefits provided for in the contract? 

A: They happened to join the union so they can 
get union jobs and bid on union jobs. 

Q: Who would bid on union jobs? Would that be 
Mrs. Garono? 

A: I have no idea. 
(Ex. 1 at 50) When asked how the terms of the contract were 
decided upon, Morrison testified, "It's been the same for years. 
Even when Anthony Sammarone was there, it's been the same." (Ex. 1 
at 47) 

15 It appears that Morgan, a foreman at Garono, paid dues 
regularly for the months of March 1996 through November 1998 when 
he was issued a withdrawal card. (Ex. 33) Morgan also paid dues 
prior to March 1996, but had been issued a withdrawal card on 
three occasions. (Ex. 33) 

16 As detailed below, the company did not comply with the 
provisions of the collective bargaining agreement regarding 
wages, vacation and other terms and conditions of employment and 
it did not appear that Morrison took any steps to enforce the 
contract. 
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Morrison never spoke with the members employed at Garono 
Landscaping about the collective bargaining agreement. (Ex. 1 at 
48)17 Moreover, Morrison falsely claimed that the employees voted 
on the agreement. (Ex. 1 at 48) Morrison alleged that Morgan, whom 
Morrison stated was the steward at Garono Landscaping, arranged for 
the members to vote on the collective bargaining agreement. (Ex. 1 
at 48)18 Morrison alleged that Morgan told him that the members 
voted on the contract. (Ex. 1 at 48) However, Morgan testified 
that he never saw a collective bargaining agreement between Local 
377 and Garono Landscaping and further testified that he did not 
know if there was such an agreement. (Ex. 19 at 13) Morgan also 
testified that he never voted on any collective bargaining 
agreement. (Ex. 19 at 23) Garono Landscaping employees Bernard, 
Aurilio and Perline, who have each been employed at the company 
since at least 1993, each testified that they were never given an 
opportunity to vote on a collective bargaining agreement. (Ex. 2 2 
at 29; Ex. 20 at 22-26, 28; Ex. 21 at 14) 

Further demonstrating that the agreement between Local 
377 and Garono Landscaping was for the benefit of the company and 
not the employees, Morrison allowed Antoun, whom Morrison knew to 

17 For example, Local 377 member Morgan did not know who the 
business agent was for Garono Landscaping and testified that 
Morrison never spoke to him about his work at Garono Landscaping, 
any benefits or ways the union could help him. (Ex. 19 at 14) 

18 Although Morrison described Morgan as the shop steward, 
Morgan testified that there was no shop steward at Garono 
Landscaping. (Ex. 19 at 14) 
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be a friend of Garono, to renew the contract. (Ex. 1 at 52)19 When 
asked whether he spoke with Morgan about the collective bargaining 
agreement before he signed it, Morrison responded, "I talked to 
Tony Antoun." (Ex. 1 at 48) 20 When asked what Antoun's role was 
with respect to the collective bargaining agreement, Morrison 
testified, "I guess he would talk to Morgan and Mrs. Garono and the 
guys there." (Ex. 1 at 49)21 When asked why Antoun was involved 
with the Garono Landscaping contract, Morrison replied, "I guess 
he's friends with Mr. Garono." (Ex. 1 at 49) 

The circumstances under which certain Garono Landscaping 
employees paid dues to Local 377 further illustrated that the 
arrangement between the Local and the company was not designed to 

19 As discussed above, charges are pending before the IRB 
alleging that Antoun knowingly associated with LCN associate 
Garono. 

20 The Local's collective bargaining agreement with Garono 
Landscaping expired on February 27, 1998. When asked what he had 
done to arrange for a new contract, Morrison testified that he 
sent Garono Landscaping a letter and 

I tried to make a call. No answer. I told 
Mr. Antoun, I said, "You're familiar with 
this contract. You know the guys that work 
over there. Can you get this contact? I 
want to get this closed up, see what they 
want." 

(Ex. 1 at 52) 

21 Morgan and Antoun drove to their June 1998 sworn 
examinations together. (Ex. 19 at 13-14) In the 1980s Antoun 
worked for Garono Landscaping. (Ex. 19 at 14) According to 
Morgan's Local 377 membership application card, Morgan's 
initiation fee was paid to Antoun. (Ex. 34) However, Morgan 
testified that Antoun never spoke with him about any contract 
between Local 377 and Garono Landscaping. (Ex. 19 at 22-23) 
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benefit the employees. For example, when Morgan was asked how he 
became a member of Local 377, he responded, "[t]hrough my boss, 
Ruth Garono." (Ex. 19 at 3)22 Morgan testified that he did not 
meet with anyone from the Local prior to joining the union. (Ex. 19 
at 4) 

In addition, in approximately October 1998 three 
employees of Garono Landscaping, Bernard, Aurilio and Perline, who 
had each been employees of the company for at least five years, 
paid dues to the union in order to gain access to a union worksite. 
Each of the three had previously paid dues to Local 377. (Exs. 24-
2 6) Aurilio had been a Local 377 member employed at another 
company who stopped paying dues when he began to work at Garono 
Landscaping. (Ex. 2 0 at 3-4; Ex. 24) On previous occasions while 
employed at Garono Landscaping, Bernard and Perline appear to have 
paid dues to Local 377 to gain access to a worksite. (Exs. 25-26)23 

22 During his sworn examination, Morgan was asked the 
following questions and gave the following responses: 
Q: And can you describe what Ruth Garono told 

you about joining the Teamsters? 
A: That I had to pay an initiation fee and I had 

to pay dues. 
Q: Did she say why you would be joining the 

union? 
A: No. 
(Ex. 19 at 4-5) 

23 According to Local 377 records, Garono Landscaping 
employee Bernard paid dues from August 1992 to November 1992. 
(Ex. 25) When Bernard was asked how he became a member of the 
Teamsters, Bernard responded, "[t]hey came up with a prevailing 
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When asked about paying dues to the Local in October 
1998, Aurilio testified, "[w]hen we came down to Richfield Mall 
they told us we had to be union. So at that time we were told by 
their steward, whoever it was down there, that we had to get our 
union in order." (Ex. 20 at 9) When asked how he knew that he 
would have to start paying dues, Bernard responded, "[c]ompany said 
it was a union job." (Ex. 21 at 6) As a result, the three Garono 
Landscaping employees paid dues to Local 377 for the months of 
October and November 1998. (Exs. 24-26) They each testified that 
they stopped paying dues when the job was over. (Ex. 20 at 10; Ex. 
21 at 9-10; Ex. 22 at 12)24 When asked why he stopped paying dues 
after he stopped working on the Richfield Mall project, Aurilio 
responded, "[w]e don't need it. . . . When we do regular 
landscaping jobs we don't have to have our union card. It's not a 
requirement, in other words." (Ex. 20 at 10-11) Perline testified 

wage job, and we had to join the union for that." (Ex. 21 at 4) 
Bernard testified that he did not speak with anyone at the union 
about joining. (Ex. 21 at 4) Although Bernard continued to work 
for Garono Landscaping after 1992, he did not pay dues again 
until October 1998 when the company needed to gain access to 
another union work site. (Ex. 25) 

Similarly, Garono Landscaping employee Perline 
testified that he became a member of Local 377 in approximately 
1992 or 1993 when he was working, at West lake Terrace because 
"[t]he company said everyone that works there has to be a member. 
If you want to work there, you had to be a member of the 
teamsters." (Ex. 22 at 3-5) Perline's dues record shows that he 
paid dues from October 1992 to November 1992 and was then issued 
a withdrawal card. (Ex. 26) Perline then paid dues from July 
1995 to December 1995 when he was issued a withdrawal card. 
Perline did not pay dues again until October 1998. (Ex. 26) 

24 Although the members testified that they did not request 
a withdrawal card, they were each issued a withdrawal card. (Ex. 
20 at 31-32; Ex. 21 at 15; Ex. 22 at 17) 
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that on the Richfield Mall job he was paid substantially more than 
his regular rate at Garono Landscaping. (Ex. 22 at 18) 

When asked why three Garono Landscaping employees paid 
dues in October 1998, Morrison testified, 

[t]hey probably were hired, you know. 
* * * 

She [Ruth Garono] gets a teamster — she gets 
a union contract every time it's up so she can 
work on union jobs. She just — she works 
with other union crafts. That's all. And 
that contract has been — Dooney [Sammarone] 
made the first contract. Anthony Sammerone, 
Rocky [Mitolo], Dooney signed it ever since. 
Rocky's signed it, and I just come in three 
years, so it's been in — been in process for 
years. I think we're the only local that does 
have landscaping contracts. . . . 

(Ex. 23 at 6-7) Morrison made no effort to ensure that all 
employees of Garono were members of the Local. (Ex. 1 at 34, 44-50) 
When asked if he checked to determine whether Garono Landscaping 
had any new employees that should be members of Local 377, Morrison 
responded, 

[i]t was the same members every year. I mean 
the same amount. They'd hire so many. No, I 
never asked them. I never paid much attention 
to it really on that because there was nothing 
you could get for them because they weren't 
there every year. I mean, it was always new 
people. And when I had talked to Dooney, I 
called him and asked him, Dooney, how do you 

I've never heard of a landscaping 
contract. How do you negotiate a landscape 
contract? He says never mind. He says, they 
change all the time. He says, they have their 
own setup on their own health and welfare and 
they give raises in increments if they stay, 
you know. So they change so much the guys 
just can't get the increments from the years. 
You know, I imagine Jeff Morgan's up there 
pretty good because he's, like — what is he, 
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a supervisor or foreman, working foreman. I 
don't know. 

(Ex. 2 3 at 33) 
Further evidencing the sham nature of the agreement with 

Garono Landscaping, the agreement did not provide basic benefits to 
the members. For example, during the five years between 1993, when 
then Local 377 business agent Mitolo entered into an agreement with 
Garono Landscaping, and 1998, when the collective bargaining 
agreement Morrison signed expired, there was no wage increase for 
the employees of Garono Landscaping. (Exs. 12 and 32 J25 

Throughout this five-year period, the hourly rate for an employee 
with no experience was $6.00, the hourly rate for an employee with 
between one and five years experience was $8.00, the hourly rate 
for an employee with between five and ten years experience was 
$9.50 and the hourly rate for an employee with over ten years 
experience was $11.00. (Exs. 12 and 32) 

In addition, Article XI of the collective bargaining 
agreement provided the following with respect to health benefits: 

1. The present program of insurance benefits 
in effect at the Company shall be continued in 
effect and shall remain in effect for the term 
of this Agreement, except as it may be changed 
by mutual agreement between the Company and 
the Union. 
2. It will be the policy of this Company not 
to provide health care benefits to it's 
seasonal employees. There are several reasons 
for this policy: 

25 Morrison described the Garono Landscaping collective 
bargaining agreement as follows: "[i]t's exactly the same as 
they've always been. They've always been the same, even when 
Dooney had it, when Rocky had it and that." (Ex. 23 at 9) 
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(a) With so many policies being 
offered today in the area of health 
insurance, the employee will be able 
to "shop" around for the best 
available program tailored to his 
and his family's needs as well as 
the most affordable. 
(b) In lieu of benefits, we will 
offer substantial raises to 
employees who obtain full-time 
status (see Definition of a Full-
Time Employee) which will be 
commensurate with what it would cost 
to insure an employee. 
(c) Because of the seasonality of 
the landscape business, the 
bookkeeping problems involved in the 
maintaining a program are too 
burdensome and it also means that 
only certain insurance companies 
will underwrite the policies. 

(Ex. 12 at 5)26 During his sworn examination, Morrison was asked 
the following questions and gave the following responses regarding 
Garono Landscaping: 

Q: The employees of Garono Landscaping who are 
Teamsters, do they receive any health benefits 
through the Teamsters? 

26 Article VI of the collective bargaining agreement defines 
a regular full-time employee as follows: 

1. A Regular Full-Time Employee for 
purposes of this Agreement is defined as any 
employee who has completed seven (7) months 
of continuous service, which is to include 
the Probationary Employment Period. 
2. . . . Employees who are layed [sic] off 
for lack of work shall be re-instated upon 
recall to work with service prior to lay-off 
credited to the seven (7) months continuous 
service requirement. 

(Ex. 12 at 2) 
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A: I think they have their own. 
Q: When you say they have their own, you mean the 

company has their own, you mean the company has 
their own health insurance? 

A: Yeah. 
Q: How do you know that? 
A: That's what I was told. 
Q: Who told you that? 
A: His wife. 
Q: Did you talk to any of the members and ask them 

whether they received health insurance through the 
company? 

A: No. 
(Ex. 1 at 46) In contrast to Morrison's claim that the company 
provided health benefits, Morgan, Aurilio, Bernard and Perline each 
testified that they did not receive any health benefits from Garono 
Landscaping or Local 377. (Ex. 19 at 9; Ex. 20 at 11; Ex. 21 at 6-
10; Ex. 22 at 2S)27 

In addition, Morrison was unfamiliar with the terms of 
the agreement. For example, when he was asked whether the members 

27 During his sworn examination, Per line was asked the 
following questions and provided the following responses: 
Q: Does the company provide you any health 

benefits? 
A: No. 
Q: Does the union provide you any health benefits? 
A: No. No. I could use them too. I have a lot 

of doctor bills. 
(Ex. 22 at 25) 
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employed at Garono Landscaping received any pension benefits, 
Morrison stated, "Not to my knowledge. I don't know if they do or 
not." (Ex. 1 at 43-46) The contract did not provide for any 
pension benefits. (Ex. 12) 

Further demonstrating the sham nature of the arrangement, 
Garono Landscaping did not comply with the wage provisions of the 
collective bargaining agreement and Morrison did nothing to enforce 
the agreement. For example, during his March 1999 sworn 
examination, Aurilio testified that he was paid $7.75 per hour for 
"about a year or two." (Ex. 20 at 20-21) Aurilio, who was employed 
at Garono Landscaping since late 1992 or early 1993, should have 
been paid $9.50 per hour pursuant to the collective bargaining 
agreement. (Ex. 12) Perline testified that for approximately the 
past three years his hourly rate was $8.25 an hour. (Ex. 22 at 24) 
Perline, who has been employed at Garono Landscaping since 1992, 
should have been paid $9.50 per hour under the collective 
bargaining agreement. (Ex. 12) 

In addition to Garono Landscaping ignoring the wage 
provisions of the agreement, it appears that other terms and 
conditions of employment, including paid holidays and vacation pay, 
were also ignored. For example, the collective bargaining 
agreement provided that each full-time employee of Garono 
Landscaping who had more than two calendar years of continuous 
service would receive vacation time. (Ex. 12)28 Nevertheless, 

28 The contract provided that if an employee, who was later 
reinstated, was laid off for lack of work for up to seven months, 
that period of lay-off would be included as part of the 
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Bernard, Perline and Aurilio, who each were employed at Garono 
Landscaping for more than five years, each testified that they did 
not receive any vacation pay. (Ex. 21 at 13; Ex. 20 at 23; Ex. 22 
at 2 6) Aurilio, Bernard and Perline also testified that they did 
not receive any paid holidays despite a provision in the collective 
bargaining agreement listing six paid holidays. (Ex. 12 at 2; Ex. 
20 at 23; Ex. 21 at 13; Ex. 22 at 25) 
IV. PROPOSED CHARGE 

Based upon the foregoing, it is recommended that Morrison 
be charged as follows: 

While a member and officer of IBT Local 377, you engaged 
in deceptive and dishonest conduct in breach of your fiduciary 
duties to the members and brought reproach upon the IBT by entering 
into a sham collective bargaining agreement with Garono Landscaping 
without a contract ratification meeting in violation of Article II, 
Section 2(a), Article XII, Section 1(b) and Article XIX, Section 
7(b) (1) and (2) of the IBT Constitution and Section 27 of the Local 
377 Bylaws, to wit: 

While a member and officer of IBT Local 377, in February 
1996 you entered into a sham collective bargaining agreement with 
Garono Landscaping. You did not hold a contract ratification 
meeting for this contract. In addition, this agreement was 
designed to benefit the company and not the employees. 

employee's period of continuous service. (Ex. 1 at 33-34; Ex. 12 
at 2) 
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EXHIBITS TO REPORT REGARDING JERRY MORRISON 
Ex. 1 Sworn Examination of Jerry Morrison dated June 24, 1998 
Ex. 2 Dues Printout for Jerry Morrison 
Ex. 3 Investigations Officer's Charge against Anthony Sammarone 
Ex. 4 Investigations Officer's Charges against Rocky Mitolo 
Ex. 5 Affidavit and Agreement of Anthony Sammarone 
Ex. 6 Affidavit and Agreement of Rocky Mitolo 
Ex. 7 Investigations Officer's Charges Against Michael Boano 
Ex. 8 Investigations Officer's Charges against Robert Eliser 
Ex. 9 Affidavit and Agreement of Michael Boano 
Ex. 10 Affidavit and Agreement of Robert Eliser 
Ex. 11 Local 377 Bylaws 
Ex. 12 Collective Bargaining Agreement between Garono 

Landscaping and Local 377 dated February 1996 
Ex. 13 IRB decision regarding Lawrence Garono 
Ex. 14 Lawrence Garono's March 2, 1999 testimony in United 

States v. Altshuler. Docket No. 97CR385 
Ex. 15 Dues Printout for Lawrence Garono 
Ex. 16 IRB Charge Report regarding Lawrence Garono 
Ex. 17 District Judge David N. Edelstein's decision regarding 

Lawrence Garono 
Ex. 18 April 1998 Listing of Local 377 members employed at 

Garono Landscaping 
Ex. 19 Sworn examination of Jeffrey Morgan dated June 25, 1998 
Ex. 20 Sworn examination of Gabriel Aurilio dated March 3, 1999 
Ex. 21 Sworn examination of Benedict Bernard dated March 3, 1999 
Ex. 22 Sworn examination of Frank Perline dated March 3, 1999 
Ex. 23 Sworn examination of Jerry Morrison dated March 4, 1999 
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Local 377 Dues Printout and Membership Application for 
Gabriel Aurilio 
Local 377 Dues Printout and Membership Application for 
Benedict Bernard 
Local 3 77 Dues Printout and Membership Application for 
Frank Perline 
Joint Council 1 decision regarding Jerry Morrison 
IBT Trusteeship Notice regarding Local 377 
Report of 1996 Local 377 Election 
Ohio Corporate Record for Garono Landscaping 
Lawrence Garono's Local 377 Membership Application 
1993 Collective Bargaining agreement between Local 377 
and Garono Landscaping 
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